
LOCAL REVIEW BODY
MONDAY, 21 JANUARY 2019

A MEETING of the LOCAL REVIEW BODY will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL 

HEADQUARTERS, NEWTOWN ST BOSWELLS, TD6 0SA on MONDAY, 21 JANUARY 2019 at 

10.00 am

J. J. WILKINSON,
Clerk to the Council,

7 January 2019

BUSINESS

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Order of Business. 

3. Declarations of Interest. 

4. Consider request for review of refusal of application for erection of 
dwellinghouse and detached garage/stable on land NE of River 
Cottage, Linthill, Melrose. 18/01332/PPP. 18/00036/RREF. 

Copies of the following papers attached:-
(a)  Notice of Review (Pages 5 - 

58)
Including:-

Officer’s Report – page 37
(b)  Decision Notice (Pages 59 - 

60)
(c)  Papers referred to in Officer's Report (Pages 61 - 

86)
(d)  Support comment (Pages 87 - 

88)
(e)  Consultations (Pages 89 - 

96)
(f)  List of Policies (Pages 97 - 

106)
5. Consider request for review of refusal of application for erection of 

dwellinghouse and detached garage on land SE of Tarf House, West 
Linton. 18/01341/PPP. 18/00037/RREF. 

Copies of the following papers attached:-

Public Document Pack



(a)  Notice of Review (Pages 107 - 
152)

(b)  Decision Notice (Pages 153 - 
154)

(c)  Officer's Report (Pages 155 - 
160)

(d)  Consultations (Pages 161 - 
168)

(e)  List of Policies (Pages 169 - 
176)

6. Consider request for review of refusal of application for erection of 
dwellinghouse on land NW of Chapel Cottage, Melrose. 18/00956/FUL. 
18/00038/RREF. 

Copies of the following papers attached:-
(a)  Notice of Review (Pages 177 - 

242)
(b)  Decision Notice (Pages 243 - 

244)
(c)  Officer's report (Pages 245 - 

252)
(d)  Papers referred to in report (Pages 253 - 

272)
(e)  Consultations (Pages 273 - 

280)
(f)  List of Policies (Pages 281 - 

288)
7. Consider request for review of refusal of application for extension to 

dwellinghouse at 10, Townhead Way, Newstead. 18/01215/FUL. 
18/00039/RREF. 

Copies of the following papers attached:-
(a)  Notice of Review (Pages 289 - 

328)
Including:-

Decision Notice - page 304
(b)  Application referred to in Notice of Review (Pages 329 - 

334)
(c)  Officer's report (Pages 335 - 

338)
(d)  Consultations (Pages 339 - 

342)
(e)  List of policies (Pages 343 - 

346)
8. Any Other Items Previously Circulated 

9. Any Other Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent 



NOTES
1. Timings given above are only indicative and not intended to inhibit Members’ 

discussions.

2. Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any 
item of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to 
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the 
Minute of the meeting.

Membership of Committee:- Councillors T. Miers (Chairman), S. Aitchison, A. Anderson, 
J. A. Fullarton, S. Hamilton, H. Laing, S. Mountford, C. Ramage and E. Small. 

Please direct any enquiries to Fiona Walling  01835 826504
email fwalling@scotborders.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 5

Agenda Item 4a



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



0 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

 

LRB APPEAL STATEMENT 
 
 
 
APPEAL AGAINST REFUSAL OF 
PLANNING PERMISSION IN 
PRINCIPLE FOR THE ERECTION OF A 
SINGLE DWELLINGHOUSE AND 
GARAGE/STABLES 
 
 
 
LINTHILL, BY. LILLIESLEAF 
 
APPLICATION REF: 18/01332/PPP 
 
ON BEHALF OF: 
MR&MRS FERGUSON 
 
 

DECEMBER 2018 

 

  

Page 9

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


1 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

            
 

 
CONTENTS 

 

 

 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY       2  

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION - DOCUMENTATION     9  

 

2.0 BACKGROUND AND APPLICATION PLANNING HISTORY   10  

 

3.0 REFUSAL OF APPLICATION BY SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL  11  

 

4.0 PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT      12 

 

5.0 GROUNDS OF APPEAL       14 

    

6.0 CONCLUSIONS        21 

  

  

Page 10

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


2 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

This Notice of Local Review is submitted on behalf of Mr and Mrs Ferguson against the decision 

of Scottish Borders Council Planning Department to refuse Planning Permission in Principle 

(PPP), on 27th November 2018, for the erection of a single dwellinghouse on land adjacent to a 

recognised building group at Linthill near Lilleasleaf. The application reference was 

18/01331/PPP. 

 

The Scottish Borders Council and Scottish Government rightly supports growth in the rural 

economy and seeks to support those wishing to reside in rural areas. Self-Build homes are one 

of the main sectors in housing growth within the Scottish Borders and which has many knock-

on benefits from employing local trades people to supporting local rural services (eg. 

shops/cafes).  

 

National and Local Planning Policy supports this and the delivery of new homes that form part 

of rural building groups, be that within or adjacent to them. The Applicant’s, when searching for 

suitable plots for their proposed family home together with stable/land (to follow their 

equestrian interests), seen a clear building group opportunity at Linthill.  

 

They then went about pulling together the associated plans as well as researching areas ranging 

from flooding to habitats. All the necessary documentation was lodged with the application and 

concluded that building a home on the lands in question was possible.  

 

The Applicant’s family live within the local community and run their own business in the Scottish 

Borders. They wish to stay within the local area and to continue to support the local rural 

businesses and services as part of this.  

 

There was only one reason given to why this application was refused and that will be responded 

to in detail within the ‘Grounds of Appeal’.The reasoning why we consider the decision made 

should be overturned and subsequently approved are: 
 
REASON 1: 

There were no objections by any consultee (any conditions suggested are agreed) and the 

immediate neighbour to the proposal kindly wrote in and supported the application. 

 

 

Page 11

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


3 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

 

REASON 2: 

The Landscape Officer and indeed the Planning Case Officer acknowledges that there is a 

confirmed ‘Building Group’ at Linthill and the subject site relates well to it. We agree with this 

conclusion and is clearly shown on lodged drawings and shown below: 

 

 

 

 

The Landscape Officer’s consultation states: 
 
The proposed dwellinghouse sits towards the north end of a large site and this does make 

sense in terms of keeping the integrity of the built form of the group (underlined our 

emphasis).  

 

For this reason I do not think there will be a detrimental impact on the Designed Landscape, 

Listed buildings or wider building group from this proposal. 

 
The Landscape Officer has raised no concerns of landscape or visual impact. The proposal is a 
significant distance from the main road and will largely go unnoticed with glimpsing views at 
most and can in no way be considered “significant” in planning / landscape impact terms. 

Page 12

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


4 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

REASON 3: 

The Planning Officer, in our opinion, deviates from an agreement that a building group does 

exist to then considering somehow that it centres around the stables and walled garden house 

which we would consider as being in the middle not at the end of the building group.  

 

While makes note it largely ignores or softens the fact that there is a long standing residential 

house (due to be extended) beyond the walled garden to the East and immediately adjacent to 

the subject site. 

 

It again largely ignores the SPG guidance on allowing adjacent building plots to existing building 

groups. One is at a loss as to where the Case Officer thinks the plot would go within the 

confirmed Linthill building group? Each plot has substantial gardens to the rear with access road  

and limited front garden areas to the north. 

 

The proposed plot seeks to relate and follow on the “sense of place” that neighbours it. Any 

alternative proposal would be backland and with no to limited access opportunity. One is at a 

loss as to what plots could be deemed appropriate in the eyes of the Case Officer and it certainly 

does not reflect the hierarchy of promoting the allowance of people to build their own homes 

in rural areas in or adjacent to an existing building group. There will always be a need for a 

degree of “flexibility” and pro-activness within the planning process to support that principle. 
 

It also does not fully reflect that the neighbouring plot has now been further extended beyond 

the hedgerow referred by the case officer and which is now removed. 

 

The Planning Department granted planning permission for a 3 bay Residential Garage (now 

built) within the field in question and which goes beyond the now removed hedge line. In 

addition, the mature tree is no longer in situ due to it falling during winter storms.  

 

The local context is shown on the plans lodged and marked up in the extract below and photos 

contained within this appeal: 

Page 13

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


5 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Standing on House Plot Looking West Toward Garage and Neighbouring Properties 

Proposed Landscaped 

Boundary 

Newly Built 

Garage & Access 

inside Subject 

Field 

Existing 

House 

Neighbour’s New 

Domestic Garden 

Plot 

Hedgerow/Tree 

Removed-New Garden 

Neighbouring 

Houses 

PLOT 

Page 14

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


6 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

An access road, parking area and residential garage has been formed within the subject field 

and immediately next to the carefully located plot in question. Refer to photos below. 

 

Formed Access / Gate / Hard Standing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


7 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

It has a residential building group to the west, a retained mature woodland to the North and 

high level hedgerow both to the South and East.  The Case Officer appears most concerned with 

the boundary to the East. There is an existing eastern hedgerow boundary that is owned by the 

applicant but to contain the plot further the Applicant has indicated the willingness to provide 

a further landscape eastern boundary to contain the single plot in question. 

 

The extent of the boundary treatment can be formed by a suitable worded condition and 

something the Appellant is content with.  

 

REASON 4: 

The subject site is self-contained by natural landscape treatment and set against the backdrop 

of mature woodland which is advocated within the SPG. It has been deliberately located to the 

north west of the land and as close to the neighbouring building group as is possible without 

raising residential amenity issues and allowing adequate spacing between properties. 

 

Section 2.b.1. of the ‘New Housing in the Borders Countryside’ details that building groups 

can be contributed to by “man made boundaries such as existing buildings, roads, plantations 

or means of enclosure”. 

 

The provision of this has been accepted in the past by the LRB and can be enforced by a suitable 

worded condition. Moreover, the field in question has been “developed” within 

 by way of a domestic garage and large area of hardstanding. It therefore cannot be considered 

as being an “undeveloped field”.  

 

The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) entitled ‘New Housing in the Borders 

Countryside’ notes preference for existing landscaping but it does not prohibit new landscaping 

to be put in place to reach the same goals.  

 

The subject site is contained to the north, east and south by existing landscaping. The Applicant 

seeks to provide a further eastern (native) landscaped boundary treatment to contain the one 

dwelling proposed. 

 

 

 

 

Page 16

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


8 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

REASON 5: 

While each application requires to be considered on its own merits the Case Officer appears to 

concern himself with the potential for further houses to the East. 

 

To be clear the proposal includes the desire to have a stable and for the remainder of the lands 

(which do not form part of this application) to remain as a small holding for horses and possible 

a small number of livestock nothing more. 

 

There is no intention to build more homes on the subject site and which the applicant’s see as 

being their “forever home”. It is again worth highlighting that, in addition to this, there is a 

legal title restriction on the land that only allows a single dwelling to be developed on the 

lands. 

 

REASON 6: 

Access to the site can be achieved. Upgrade of the main access to improve the visibility is 

imminent and the internal access is already in place and within the control of the applicant. No 

objection was raised by the Council’s Road Officers.  

 

A technical drawing regarding the main access has been lodged with the application/appeal. 

The internal access and hardstanding to the plot is already in place. 

 

REASON 7: 

The Applicant’s seek to build a family home that is of the highest quality in design (using a local 

and award winning Architect) and in materials used that respects the rural environment in which 

it would be placed. It also seeks to support renewable energy techniques wherever possible (eg. 

solar/battery storage/ground source heating).  

 

Appropriate utility connections from power to sewerage can be put in pace and acceptance by 

the providers has been given to the Appellant (eg. Scottish Power / Water). 

 

Having considered the detail contained within the Appellant’s submission we respectfully 

request planning permission be granted. 

 

 

 
  

Page 17

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


9 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

1.0 INTRODUCTION – DOCUMENTATION 

 

1.1 The Application for Planning Permission in Principle (PPP) for the erection of a dwelling 

included the following drawings which are supplied with this Local Review. 

 

- Location Plan  

- Indicative Site Plan  

- Indicative Elevation Plan 

 

1.2 An indicative elevation drawing was lodged at the outset but appears not to have been 

received. We have included that within this submission for general context. 

 

1.3 The application also included a detailed Supporting Planning Statement and Habitat 

Survey resubmitted with this appeal submission. The Planning Officer’s Report and 

Decision Notice are also included. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 18

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


10 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

2.0 BACKGROUND AND APPLICATION PLANNING HISTORY 

 

2.1 The Appellant’s are seeking to build their family home on a proposed/contained plot 

that they and we consider to be a clear building group opportunity at Linthill.  

 

2.2 Any previous withdrawn application has no relationship with the Appellant nor did it 

include as much supporting evidence/documentation as lodged with this submission. It 

appeared on one map search to include the entire lands while this application has 

carefully only included a plot immediately adjacent to the existing building group and 

to which new landscaping will tightly contain. It also did not take into consideration the 

domestic garage which now sits within the subject field/plot adjacent to where the 

proposed house would go. 

 

2.3 The submission package before the LRB has been undertaken during the course of 2018. 

Any previous application on the site is not related and has not also taken into changes 

since then (ie. garage within the subject site / felled hedge line and tree etc) 

 

2.4 The Building Group is clear and formed from the west by the Linthill Stable block (now 

converted into a number of cottages), a house built into the walled garden followed by 

Garden Cottage (soon to be extended) and which also incorporates a newly formed 

domestic garage that falls within the subject field/plot. 

 

2.5  Planning Permission for the garage was granted in 2015 (ref. 15/00199/FUL). The 

extension to the neighbouring Garden Cottage was passed via permitted development 

rights and due to be built early in 2019. 

 

2.6 There is a clear group of existing dwellings and which meets the LDP’s requirement of  

at least  3 existing dwellings. There again is the main Linthill House to the north of the 

Ale Water which arguable has a relationship with the Linthill grouping (albeit not being 

relied upon in this submission). 

 

2.7 While it is not considered part of the grouping it is again worth highlighting that the LRB 

recently approved the replacement Gatehouse at ‘Linthill’ near the main access road. 

The subject site is the final plot of the Estate’s sale lotting to be developed. 

 

Page 19

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


11 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

3.0 REFUSAL OF APPLICATION BY SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL 

 

3.1 The application was refused by Scottish Borders Council on 27th November 2018 on the 

basis set out below. 

 
1) The proposed development is contrary to Adopted Local Plan Policy HD2 
and the advice of Supplementary Planning Guidance - New Housing in the 
Borders Countryside (December 2008) in that: (i) the development is not 
sympathetic to the character of the building group and would not contribute 
positively to the sense of place of the existing building group; and (ii) the 
Applicant has not demonstrated that there is any operational need for a new 
dwellinghouse to be located at the site as a direct operational requirement of 
any agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself 
appropriate to the countryside. 

 

 

  

Page 20

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


12 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

4.0 PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT  

 

SCOTTISH BORDERS LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN (2016) 

4.1 The key policies relevant to the determination of this Local Review are Local 

Development Plan (LDP) Policy HD2 Housing in the Countryside and Policy HD3 

Protection of Residential Amenity. 

 

4.2 The key adopted Supplementary Guidance to be treated as a material consideration in 

the determination of this Local Review is ‘New Housing in the Borders Countryside’ 

(2008). 

 

4.3 LDP Housing in the Countryside policy HD2, section [A] ‘Building Groups’ states that 

housing of up to 2 additional dwellings, or a 30% increase in the building group, 

(whichever is the greater), associated with existing building groups, may be supported 

where: 

 

- The site is well related to an existing building group of 3 or more houses; 

- There is acceptable cumulative impact of the proposal on the character of the 

building group, and on the landscape and amenity of the surrounding area; 

- The proposal is appropriate in terms of scale, siting, design, access and materials, 

and should be sympathetic to the character of the group. 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY GUIDANCE – NEW HOUSING IN THE BORDERS COUNTRYSIDE 

4.4 “New Housing in the Borders Countryside” provides clear guidance on development 

which is proposed as an addition to an existing building group.  

 

4.5 The Guidance states that development must meet certain standard criteria, including: 

a) No adverse effect on the viability of a farming unit or conflict with the 

operations of a working farm; 

b) Satisfactory access and other road requirements; 

c) Satisfactory public or private water supply and drainage facilities;  

d) No adverse effect on countryside amenity, landscape or nature conservation;  

e) No adverse impact on designed landscapes; 

f) Appropriate siting, design and materials in accordance with the relevant Local 

Plan policies. 

Page 21

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


13 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

4.6 All applications for new houses at existing building groups will be tested against an 

analysis of: (a) the presence or, otherwise of a group; and (b) the suitability of that group 

to absorb new development. 

 

4.7 The existence of a group will be identifiable by a sense of place which will be contributed 

to by: (a) natural boundaries such as water courses, trees or enclosing landform, or (b) 

man-made boundaries such as existing buildings, roads, plantations or means of 

enclosure. 

 

4.8 Natural boundaries where possible should take precedence over man-made boundaries 

when defining the extent of a building group. Man made boundaries are, in our opinion, 

still deemed to be acceptable in containing any confirmed building group.  

 

4.9 The suitability of any particular group to accommodate new houses will depend upon: 

 

a) The scale and siting of new development reflecting and respecting the character 

and amenity of the existing group, and the individual houses within the group;  

b) New development being limited to the area contained by the sense of place;  

c) New build being located within a reasonable distance of existing properties 

within the building group; the distance between existing properties and 

proposed new build being guided by the spacing between the existing 

properties within the group;  

d) Sites not normally breaking into a previously undeveloped field or requiring the 

removal of mature trees in good condition;  

e) Houses not being located within 400m of existing intensive livestock units 

unless the new house is required in connection with the farm or business itself;  

f) Careful consideration being given to sites close to working farm buildings or 

other rural industries to ensure no potential conflict;  

g) The proposal not being an extension of ribbon development along a public road. 

 

4.10 Policy HD3 ‘Protection of Residential Amenity’ requires that any new house does not 

have a detrimental impact upon the residential amenity of existing houses and has a 

good level of residential amenity itself.   

Page 22

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


14 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

5.0 GROUNDS FOR LOCAL REVIEW AND CASE FOR THE APPELLANT 

 

5.1 The Case Officer’s single reason to refuse (outlined in Section 3) the application is 

challenged on the ‘Grounds of Appeal’ set out below. It is asserted that the Proposal 

accords with the relevant planning policies and intentions of the Local Development 

Plan and Supplementary Planning Guidance as well as Strategic and National planning 

guidance.  

 

5.2 The Appellant sets out the following Grounds of Appeal (GOA): 

 

GOA 1 
 
There were no objections by any consultee (any conditions suggested are agreed) and 

the immediate neighbour to the proposal kindly wrote in and supported the 

application. 

 

GOA 2 
 
The development would not be contrary to policy HD2 of the Local Development Plan 

2016 and New Housing in The Borders Countryside’ Guidance 2008 in that : 

 

(a) the location is directly adjacent to an existing building group of more than three 

dwellings,  

 

(b) the proposal respects the character of the building group and the scale and 

siting of other houses. This has been confirmed by the Council’s Landscape 

Officer who concluded: 
 

The proposed dwellinghouse sits towards the north end of a large site 

and this does make sense in terms of keeping the integrity of the built 

form of the group (underlined our emphasis).  
 

For this reason I do not think there will be a detrimental impact on the 

Designed Landscape, Listed buildings or wider building group from this 

proposal. 

 

Page 23

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


15 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

(c) The subject plot is contained by the existing building group to the west, mature 

woodland to the north and high hedgerows to the south and east. It is proposed 

to plant a secondary and further native landscaped boundary along the east and 

as shown indicatively within the drawings lodged. This then providing a tighter 

defined edge to the building group. The remainder of the field would be used 

for grazing and equine purposes (ie. Agri. small holding) by the owners. 

 

The policy or SPG does not prohibit the use of new landscape boundaries as part 

of containing an extended building group.  

 

(d) there are no other suitable sites available within the building group; 

 

(e) the proposal would not cause ribbon development. 

 

The Landscape Officer acknowledges that there is a confirmed ‘Building Group’ at Linthill and 

the subject site relates well to it. We agree with this conclusion and is clearly shown on lodged 

drawings and shown below: 

 

 
 

Existing 

Woodland/Hedge 

Boundaries 

Additional/New 

Landscape 

Boundary 

Treatment 

Page 24

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


16 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

The Landscape Officer has raised no concerns of landscape or visual impact. The proposal is a 
significant distance from the main road and will largely go unnoticed with glimpsing views at 
most and can in no way be considered “significant” in planning or landscape impact terms.  
 

GOA 3 
 
The Planning Officer, in our opinion, deviates from an agreement that a building group does 

exist but then appears to dilute what that may or may not contain. It again does not highlight 

strongly enough that plots adjacent to building groups should be deemed acceptable.   

 

It lightly touches upon the fact that there is a long standing residential house (due to be 

extended) beyond the walled garden to the East and immediately adjacent to the subject site. 
 

It also does not fully reflect that the neighbouring plot has now been further extended beyond 

the hedgerow and now includes part of the subject field in question. 

 

The Planning Department granted planning permission for a 3 bay Residential Garage (now 

built) within the field in question and which goes beyond the hedge line referred to by the 

Planning Officer. In addition, the mature tree and the hedgeline in question is no longer in situ.  

 

This is shown on the plans lodged and extract below: 

Page 25

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


17 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Standing on House Plot Looking West Toward Garage Built in Subject Field 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed Landscaped 

Boundary 

Newly Built 

Garage & Access 

inside Subject 

Field 

Existing 

House 

Page 26

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


18 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

An access road, parking area and residential garage has been formed within the subject field 

and immediately next to the carefully located plot in question. Refer to previous photos in 

Executive Summary. 

  

It has a residential building group to the west, a retained mature woodland to the North and 

high level hedgerow both to the South and East.  The Case Officer appears most concerned with 

the boundary to the East. There is an existing eastern hedgerow boundary that is owned by the 

applicant but to contain the plot further the Applicant has indicated the willingness to provide 

a further landscape eastern boundary to contain the single plot in question. 

 

GOA 4: 
 
The subject site is self-contained by natural landscape treatment and set against the backdrop 

of mature woodland which is advocated within the SPG. It has been deliberately located to the 

north west of the land and as close to the neighbouring building group as is possible without 

raising residential amenity issues and allowing adequate spacing between properties. 

 

Section 2.b.1. of the ‘New Housing in the Borders Countryside’ details that building groups 

can be contributed to by “man made boundaries such as existing buildings, roads, plantations 

or means of enclosure”. 

 

The provision of this has been accepted in the past by the LRB and can be enforced by a suitable 

worded condition. Moreover, the field in question has been “developed” within by way of a 

domestic garage and large area of hardstanding. It therefore cannot be considered as being an 

“undeveloped field”.  

 

The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) entitled ‘New Housing in the Borders 

Countryside’ notes preference for existing landscaping but it does not prohibit new landscaping 

to be put in place to reach the same goals.  

 

The subject site is contained to the north, east and south by existing landscaping. The Applicant 

seeks to provide a further eastern (native) landscaped boundary treatment to contain the one 

dwelling proposed. 

 

Page 27

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


19 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

GOA 5: 
 
While each application requires to be considered on its own merits the Case Officer appears to 

be concerned with the potential for further houses to the East. 

 

To be clear the proposal includes the desire to have a stable and for the remainder of the field 

to remain as a small holding for horses and possible a small number of livestock nothing more. 

 

There is no intention to build more homes on the subject site and which the applicant’s see as 

being their “forever home”. It is again worth highlighting that, in addition to this, there is a 

legal title restriction on the land that only allows a single dwelling to be developed. 

 

GOA 6: 
 
Access to the site can be achieved. Upgrade of the main access to improve the visibility is 

imminent and the internal access is already in place and within the control of the applicant. No 

objection was raised by the Council’s Road Officers.  

 

A technical drawing with regard to the main access upgrade has been provided with the internal 

access/hardstanding to the plot already in place. 

 

GOA 7: 
 
The Applicant’s seek to build a family home that is of the highest quality in design (using a local 

and award winning Architect) and in materials used that respects the rural environment in which 

it would be placed. It also seeks to support renewable energy techniques wherever possible (eg. 

solar/battery storage/ground source heating).  

 

Appropriate utility connections from power to sewerage can be put in pace and acceptance by 

the providers has been given to the Appellant (eg. Scottish Power / Water). 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


20 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

Developer Contributions 

The requirement for an education contribution is noted and is accepted by the Appellant. 

 

Drainage Arrangements 

Private drainage is proposed. The application was in principle only – details will be provided at 

the next stage of the planning process, as required by the Environmental Health Officer. 

 

 

Having considered the detail contained within the Appellant’s submission we respectfully 

request planning permission to be granted for the dwellinghouse at Linthill. 

 
  

Page 29

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


21 

 

 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

 

6.1 This Local Review Appeal requests that the Officer’s decision to refuse planning 

permission in principle for the erection of a house at Linthill be overturned and consent 

be granted given it is well related to the existing 3+ house building group. This 

Statement has clearly demonstrated that the proposal is not contrary to Local 

Development Plan policies HD2 or HD3 or to Supplementary Planning Guidance “New 

Housing in the Borders Countryside”. 

 

6.2 The Planning Authority has recognised the presence of the building group and its 

capacity to expansion by a further dwelling. 

 

6.6 The appeal site is well related to the building group in terms of distance from it, relative 

to the existing distances between the group’s elements. There is no meaningful natural 

or manmade boundary between the appeal site and the building group. 

 

6.8 The Council’s Roads Officer and Landscape Officer raised no objections. The Landscape 

Officer will require a detailed landscaping plan at reserved matters stage – this is 

acceptable to the appellant. The proposal does not result in any loss of woodland and 

has no impact on trees’ root protection areas. It again will have no significant impact on 

local habitats. 

 

6.10 The proposal complies with adopted policy and guidance and respects and reflects the 

character of the existing building group. There are no other suitable sites at Linthill. 

Given the acceptance that this building group has the capacity for a further dwelling 

together with the ‘Grounds of Appeal’ outlined in this statement, the Local Review Body 

is respectfully requested to allow the Appeal. 

 

 

Page 30

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


P
age 31



P
age 32



P
age 33



P
age 34



P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 
 

PLANNING STATEMENT 
 
 

SITE ADDRESS:  
LAND EAST OF GARDEN COTTAGE, 

LINTHILL, LILLIESLEAF, BY MELROSE, TD6 
9HU 

 
PROPOSAL: 

RESIDENTIAL DWELLING, GARAGE / 
STABLE, ACCESS AND ASSOCIATED 

WORKS 
 
 

APPLICANT:  
MR & MRS T FERGUSON 

 
 

22 SEPTEMBER 2018 
 
  

Page 47

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

 
CONTENTS 
 
 
 
Introduction and Proposal Description 
 
Planning Policy Context  
 
Assessment of Development Proposal 
 
Conclusions 

 
 

 
  

Page 48

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 
INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL DESCRIPTION 

 

1. This Planning Statement, prepared by Ferguson Planning, is submitted to Scottish 

Borders Council on behalf of the Applicant, Mr and Mrs T Ferguson, for Planning 

Permission in Principle (PPP) for a family home on land adjacent to the existing 

building group at Linthill near Lilliesleaf.   

 

2. A Location Plan, Indicative Site Layout Plan and Elevation Plan, showing the 

potential house position, the relationship of the plot with the existing building group, 

proposed landscaping/defensible edge, access and associated information have 

all been provided.  

 

3.  A Phase 1 Habitat Survey is also provided as well as information showing that the 

plot falls out with any flood risk zone. Internal access is already in place with the 

main road access being widened in the coming weeks and thus will further 

enhance access and egress for all the related properties at Linthill.   

 

4. The plot in question extends to roughly 0.7 of an acre with lands within the control 

of the applicant extending to c. 5.2 acres and shown via the blue line. It forms part 

of the former Linthill Estate which has been sub divided into varying lots over the 

last decade and to which a number of families now reside.  

 

5. It is enclosed by the existing landform, woodland, hedgerow and by the River Ale 

to the north and the existing hedgerow to the south and east. This landscaping will 

be furthered as part of the proposal. 

 

6. Immediately to the west of the site lie a row of at least three residential dwellings. 

These being Gardener’s Cottage, River Cottage and The Stables. To the north, 

over the River Ale, is a fourth dwelling known as Linthill House. The dwellings 

share access along the Estate drive from the B6359 and to which this plot also has 

access and egress rights.  

 

7. It is pertinent to note that, in the recent past, part of the subject site/field was sold 

to the adjoining dwelling and to which the owners have now erected a domestic 

Garage and hard standing. The principle of development within the subject 

Page 49

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

site/field has been established. 

 

8. The extract below provides the context of the adjoining building group and the new 

garage within the original field boundary of this proposal. The site plans lodged 

with the application indicate in red the defined plot for the purposes of the 

residential dwelling and the blue line which would fall within the applicant’s 

ownership but to be retained as a greenfield / paddock area. They also indicate 

the existing hedge and a new hedge line for the residential plot. 

 

9. Currently the paddock or field is not and has not been used for agricultural 

purposes for quite some time and is heavily overgrown. The field would be upkept 

and managed by the applicant’s going forward and remain as green pasture for 

horses. The residential plot is located close to the existing residential dwellings but 

with some distance to respect privacy/amenity of the immediate neighbour. A clear 

defensible edge is to be provided along the plots eastern boundary as shown 

together with further landscaping along the western boundary to enhance privacy 

between it and the neighbouring Cottage.  

 

10. Figure 1 provides the local context within which the proposal is set.  

 
Fig 1: Locational context of the subjects in relation to the existing building group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

Page 50

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

11. It is proposed that the new house would be served by private foul and surface 

water drainage arrangements. The Applicant would own adjacent land which could 

be used for a private filtration system and the disposal of surface water if 

necessary. Mains water and electricity supply have also been confirmed by 

Scottish Water and Scottish Power.  

 

12. The remainder of this statement considers relevant planning policy and material 

considerations that provides justification in support of that proposed. 

 

 
PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT  

 

 

13. The Scottish Government continue and have just recently provided strong support 

behind the promotion of families wishing to pursue housing via self-build as it can 

play its part in addressing the overall national and local housing shortfall in 

Scotland.  

 

14. Much of the planning policy guidance for single dwellings of this nature is at a local 

level and contained within the adopted Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 

(2016) and associate supplementary guidance. Key policies include (a) HD2 – 

Housing in the Countryside and (b) HD3 – Protection of Residential Amenity. 

 

(a) Housing in the Countryside Policy 

 

15. The key policy under which the proposal must be assessed is the Scottish Borders 

Local Development Plan (2016) policy HD2 – Housing in the Countryside. This 

policy allows existing buildings groups to expand within a Plan period by 30% or 2 

units, whichever is the greater, where suitable sites exist.  

 

16. The policy requires that the proposed site should be well related to the existing 

building group and have no detrimental impact upon the character of the group, 

the landscape or the amenity of the surrounding area. Any development proposal 

should also be appropriate in terms of scale, siting, design, access and use of 

materials.  

 

 

Page 51

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

17. Applications for new houses relating to expansion of building groups will be 

assessed against: a) the presence or, otherwise, of a group; and b) the suitability 

of that group to absorb new development. 

 

18. Supplementary Guidance ‘New Housing in the Borders Countryside’ provides 

additional detail in support of the above policy, setting out requirements where a 

new house is proposed in association with an existing building group. 

Requirements which are relevant to the development proposal include: 

 

 The scale and siting should reflect and respect the character and amenity 

of the existing group and the individual houses within the group; 

 The new house should be situated in the area contained by the “sense of 

place”. 

 The new house should be located within a reasonable distance of the 

existing properties within the group, with the distance between existing 

properties and the new house being guided by the spacing between 

existing properties in the group; 

 Sites should not normally break into undeveloped agricultural fields or 

require the removal of trees which are in good condition. 

 

 

19. The Guidance notes that the existence of a building group is identifiable by a 

“sense of place” which will be contributed to by: natural boundaries such as water 

courses, trees or enclosing landform, or man-made boundaries such as existing 

buildings, roads, plantations or means of enclosure. 

 

(b) Protection of Residential Amenity 

 

20. This policy requires development to have no significant adverse impact on the 

amenity of existing or proposed houses. The scale, form and type of development 

proposed must fit with the residential area and it should not have unacceptable 

effects in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy or sunlight. There should also be no 

unacceptable impact on visual amenity more generally.  

 

 

 

Page 52

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

Access 

21. The ability to achieve safe and satisfactory access is a requirement of the creation 

of any new housing in the countryside. A vehicular access is required to have 

visibility splays appropriate to the location and to the speed of traffic on the 

adjoining road system.  

 

ASSESSMENT OF DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL 
 

 Building group 

 

22. There is a clearly 3+ residential dwelling building group at Linthill and which is 

immediately adjacent to the subject site. The proposed site lies next to the easterly 

most dwelling known as Gardeners Cottage.  This property also has an associated 

domestic garage which shares the boundary and falls within the confines of the 

field related to the subject site.  

 

23. The existing hedgeline of the subject site defines the end or easterly edge of the 

former Linthill Estate. It is well contained and not exposed to any public receptors 

of note. While the existing hedgeline could be deemed the outer edge of the 

subject site the intention would be to provide a new landscaped boundary edge 

closer to the proposed house. It will also provide further fencing for the purposes 

of keeping horses/livestock on the majority of the landholding that sits beside the 

plot.  

 

24. The proposed dwelling seeks to position itself largely in line with the existing 

building group that neighbours it while having adequate spacing and landscaping 

so as not to impact on the amenity of the neighbouring Cottage. 

 

25. The proposed plot shares a sense of place with the adjacent houses and there is 

inter-visibility with the nearest address. There is no gap between the subject site 

and the row of three existing domestic dwellings.  

 

26. The building will be sustainable both in terms of its design, location and through 

the use of existing and appropriate new landscaping to ensure it fits well within its 

surroundings. It will also promote renewable energy technologies. 

 

Page 53

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

Residential Amenity 

 

27. It is considered that the dwelling can be developed on the subject site without 

causing a detrimental impact upon the residential amenity of the neighbouring 

house or any other dwellings nearby. The scale and exact positioning of the house, 

together with design and materials have been indicatively shown with any final 

detail controlled by the Planning Authority by condition at the next stage in the 

planning process.  

 

28. The plot location again is not near any farm steading and thus no residential 

amenity concerns arise as a result. 

 

  Design 

 

29. The house design, as can be seen in the drawings provided, show that a great 

deal of time has gone into the design and which seeks to use the highest quality 

of materials and one which respects the rural setting it is set within.  

 

30. While the application is for PPP/outline planning permission the applicant has 

taken considerable time over the indicative positions and design of the proposal. 

It has taken into consideration the local built form, sense of place and ensuring a 

high quality design is brought forward. 

 

31. The plans provide further detail on this and which would evolve as part of the 

detailed planning stage. The built form intends to merge traditional with modern 

architecture and via the use of high quality materials such as natural stone, slate 

and locally sourced timber. 

 

32. The existing woodland and hedgerow that exists will enable the dwelling to be set 

into the landscape and will soften the built form from approach. The plot is very 

well screened and will largely go unnoticed from key or public receptor points. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

Flooding 

33. Review of the web-based Council and SEPA indicative flood maps show that the 

site lies out with the area assessed as having high, medium or low flood risk. The 

associated extract is shown within Figure 2 below. 

 

Figure 2: Flood Map 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34. The applicant consulted with the Council’s flood department at an early stage and 

whom have confirmed that the site is not at risk of flooding. They noted: 

 

Thank you for your enquiry regarding flood risk at Linthill Cottages, Lilliesleaf 
TD6 9HU.  
 
In terms of information that this Council has concerning flood risk to this site, 
SEPA’s Indicative River, Surface Water & Coastal Hazard Map (Scotland) 
indicates that the site is out with SEPA’s Flood Hazard Map and therefore not at 
risk of flooding from the Ale Water.  The attached map shows the indicative 
1:200 year flood envelope of the Ale Water which shows all identified plots to be 
free of fluvial flooding… 
  
Regarding historical flooding information we have no records of the site being 
affected by flooding.  

 

 

Page 55

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 Habitat 

 

35. The Applicant’s again have sought to be pro-active and instructed a Habitat Survey 

to be undertaken for the plot in question. The associated report forms part of the 

submission package. It has demonstrated that the lands in question have no 

recordings or will not have any significant impact on local habitat.  

 

Access and Servicing 

 

36. It is intended that the access from the main B6359 will be upgraded which will 

enhance the visibility on access and egress. The related plan forms part of the 

submission. We understand that the associated works are to take place in the 

coming weeks by the Linthill Estate owners. 

 

37. The plot will be serviced by private foul and surface water drainage arrangements 

with detail to be provided at the next stage in the planning process. Mains water 

supply is available as is the relevant power supply from the sub-station located on 

the Linthill Estate. 

 

38. It is proposed that the house will support renewable energy technologies. It is 

envisaged that this will include solar panels and ground source heat. The relevant 

detail would be provided by way of a condition discharge at the next stage in the 

planning process. 

 

Landscaping 

 

39. Even though there is existing boundary treatment it is proposed that a further 

landscaped edge would be provided. Particularly along the plot’s eastern boundary 

to form a robust boundary to the expanded building group.  

 

40. The indicative site plan shows possible siting of the area of tree planting/ 

landscaping, the exact design and species-mix of which can be controlled at the 

next stage in the planning process. This landscaped boundary will distinguish 

between the plot and remaining paddock area which will remain in situ. The built 

form will be beyond any tree root areas and again something the applicant is willing 

to be conditioned upon. 

Page 56

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

 

 
CONCLUSIONS 

 

 

41. Ferguson Planning has been appointed by the applicant’s to submit an application 

for planning permission in principle for the development of a single family dwelling 

on land to the east of the existing building group at Linthill. 

 

42. The plots share a common ‘sense of place’ with the building group that exists and 

the creation of a new defensible landscape boundary to the east of the plot is 

proposed. The proposal will comply with Housing in the Countryside policy and 

with policy on Protection of Residential Amenity. The site is of sufficient size to 

contain a single dwelling without having detrimental impact upon the nearest 

dwelling. The remaining paddock area would remain as is and within the control of 

the applicant for such purposes. 

 

43. Satisfactory access to the plot can be achieved from the public road with the 

internal access already in place and which currently services the neighbouring 

garage to the plot.  

 

44. The site lies out with the area shown on SEPA’s flood risk map. Satisfactory private 

drainage arrangements can be achieved, subject to further details to be provided 

at the next stage in the planning process. 

 

45. There would be no impact upon the existing trees. The plot is of sufficient size to 

enable the development without impacting upon root protection areas. The 

Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey confirms that there are no ecological restrictions 

which would prevent the development.  

 

46. Having taken into consideration the related planning policy, in particular LDP Policy 

HD2, we conclude that: 

 

 The proposal is in a location next to existing residential dwellings and part 

of the “sense of place” related to the properties at Linthil 

 

 No adverse effect on the viability of a farming unit or conflict with the 

Page 57

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


 

 

Main Office: 

Shiel House | 54 Island Street | Galashiels | TD1 1NU 

NI Office: 

61 Moyle Road | Ballycastle | Co. Antrim | BT54 6LG 

T 01896 668 744 

M    07586 807 973 

E 07960003358 

tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk 

W www.fergusonplanning.co.uk 

operations of a working farm would occur 

 

 The plot is already contained with its own field hedging but this will be 

added to and enable a defensible boundary to be in place. The plot takes 

up a small proportion of the paddock in question which will now be 

managed by the applicant having previously been left unattended for 

numerous years 

 

 Satisfactory access and other road requirements are or can be in place 

 

 Satisfactory public or private water supply and drainage facilities can be 

put in place and been confirmed by the network providers 

 

 No adverse effect on countryside amenity, landscape or nature 

conservation will occur  

 

 No adverse impact on the environment, landscape or archaeological sites 

 

 Appropriate siting, design and materials in accordance with the relevant 

Local Plan policies would be adhered to as would the use of renewable 

energy sources. 

 

 

47. The Planning Authority is respectfully requested to approve this application for 

reasons stated within this statement. 

Page 58

mailto:tim@fergusonplanning.co.uk
http://www.fergusonplanning.co.uk/


Page 59

Agenda Item 4b



Page 60



Page 61

Agenda Item 4c



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 87

Agenda Item 4d



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 89

Agenda Item 4e



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



List of Policies

Local Review Reference: 18/00036/RREF
Planning Application Reference: 18/01332/PPP
Development Proposal:  Erection of dwellinghouse and detached garage/stable
Location: Land North East of River Cottage, Linthill, Melrose
Applicant: Mr & Mrs T Ferguson

Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016

POLICY PMD1: SUSTAINABILITY

In determining planning applications and preparing development briefs, the Council will have 
regard to the following sustainability principles which underpin all the Plan’s policies and 
which developers will be expected to incorporate into their developments:

a) the long term sustainable use and management of land
b) the preservation of air and water quality
c) the protection of natural resources, landscapes, habitats, and species
d) the protection of built and cultural resources
e) the efficient use of energy and resources, particularly non-renewable resources
f) the minimisation of waste, including waste water and encouragement to its 

sustainable management
g) the encouragement of walking, cycling, and public transport in preference to the 

private car
h) the minimisation of light pollution
i) the protection of public health and safety
j) the support to community services and facilities
k) the provision of new jobs and support to the local economy
l) the involvement of the local community in the design, management and improvement 

of their environment

POLICY PMD2: QUALITY STANDARDS

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 

demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient 
use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources 
such as District Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning 
applications must demonstrate that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction 
target has been met, with at least half of this target met through the use of low or 
zero carbon technology,

b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall 

provision of Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and 
maintenance,

d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,
e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 

presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,

f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or 
screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the 

Page 97

Agenda Item 4f



List of Policies

wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases 
agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an 
early stage of development and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for 
long term landscape/open space maintenance,

g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of the 

context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need 
not exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,

i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, 
where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,

j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement the 
highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, the 
existing building,

k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, 
neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,

l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 

development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 

accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing street 

patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in order to 
minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,

p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to the 

site access,
r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 

connections and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where 
possible to the existing path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support 
more sustainable travel patterns,

s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those used 
for waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open 

spaces and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be 
appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,

u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity or 
biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

POLICY HD2: HOUSING IN THE COUNTRYSIDE

The Council wishes to promote appropriate rural housing development:

a) in village locations in preference to the open countryside where permission will only 
be granted in special circumstances on appropriate sites, 

Page 98



List of Policies

b) associated with existing building groups where this does not adversely affect their 
character or that of the surrounding area, and
c) in dispersed communities in the Southern Borders housing market area.

These general principles in addition to the requirement for suitable roads access will be the
starting point for the consideration of applications for housing in the countryside, which will
be supplemented by Supplementary Planning Guidance / Supplementary Guidance on New
Housing in the Borders Countryside and on Placemaking and Design.

(A) BUILDING GROUPS

Housing of up to a total of 2 additional dwellings or a 30% increase of the building group,
whichever is the greater, associated with existing building groups may be approved provided
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group of at least 
three houses or building(s) currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential 
use. Where conversion is required to establish a cohesive group of at least three houses, no 
additional housing will be approved until such conversion has been implemented,
b) the cumulative impact of new development on the character of the building group, 
and on the landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into account when 
determining new applications. Additional development within a building group will be refused 
if, in conjunction with other developments in the area, it will cause unacceptable adverse 
impacts,
c) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings or a 30% increase in addition to the group during the Plan period. No 
further development above this threshold will be permitted.

In addition, where a proposal for new development is to be supported, the proposal should 
be appropriate in scale, siting, design, access, and materials, and should be sympathetic to 
the character of the group.

The calculations on building group size are based on the existing number of housing units
within the group as at the start of the Local Development Plan period. This will include those
units under construction or nearing completion at that point.

(B) DISPERSED BUILDINGS GROUPS

In the Southern Housing Market area there are few building groups comprising 3 houses
or more, and a more dispersed pattern is the norm. In this area a lower threshold may
be appropriate, particularly where this would result in tangible community, economic or
environmental benefits. In these cases the existence of a sense of place will be the primary
consideration.

Housing of up to 2 additional dwellings associated with dispersed building groups that meet
the above criteria may be approved provided that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site lies within a recognised dispersed community in 
the Southern Borders housing market area,

b) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings in addition to the group during the Plan period. No further 
development above this threshold will be permitted,

c) the design of housing will be subject to the same considerations as other types of  
housing in the countryside proposals.

Page 99



List of Policies

(C) CONVERSIONS OF BUILDINGS TO A HOUSE

Development that is a change of use of a building to a house may be acceptable provided 
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the building has architectural or historic merit, is capable 
of conversion and is physically suited for residential use,

b) the building stands substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height) and the 
existing structure requires no significant demolition. A structural survey will be 
required where in the opinion of the Council it appears that the building may not be 
capable of conversion, and

c) the conversion and any proposed extension or alteration is in keeping with the scale 
and architectural character of the existing building.

(D) RESTORATION OF HOUSES

The restoration of a house may also be acceptable provided that the walls of the former 
residential property stand substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height). In 
addition:

a) the siting and design reflects and respects the historical building pattern and the 
character of the landscape setting,

b) any proposed extension or alteration should be in keeping with the scale, form and 
architectural character of the existing or original building, and

c) significant alterations to the original character will only be considered where it can be 
demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive 
contribution to the landscape and/or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(E) REPLACEMENT DWELLINGS

The proposed replacement of an existing house may be acceptable provided that:

a) the siting and design of the new building reflects and respects the historical building 
pattern and the character of the landscape setting,

b) the proposal is in keeping with the existing/original building in terms of its scale, 
extent, form and architectural character,

c) significant alterations to the original character of the house will only be considered 
where it can be demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a 
positive contribution to the landscape and /or a more sustainable and energy efficient 
design.

(F) ECONOMIC REQUIREMENT

Housing with a location essential for business needs may be acceptable if the Council is
satisfied that:

a) the housing development is a direct operational requirement of an agricultural, 
horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, 
and it is for a worker predominantly employed in the enterprise and the presence of 
that worker on-site is essential to the efficient operation of the enterprise. Such 
development could include businesses that would cause disturbance or loss of 
amenity if located  within an existing settlement, or

b) it is for use of a person last employed in an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other 
enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and also employed on the 
unit that is the subject of the application, and the development will release another 

Page 100



List of Policies

house for continued use by an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other enterprise 
which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and 

c) the housing development would help support a business that results in a clear social 
or environmental benefit to the area, including the retention or provision of 
employment or the provision of affordable or local needs housing, and

d) no appropriate site exists within a building group, and
e) there is no suitable existing house or other building capable of conversion for the 

required residential use.

In ALL instances in considering proposals relative to each of the policy sections above, there 
shall be compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance where it meets the 
terms of this policy and development must not negatively impact on landscape and existing 
communities. The cumulative effect of applications under this policy will be taken into 
account when determining impact.

POLICY HD3 : PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that 
would be lost; and

b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding properties 

particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting provisions. These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ 
development, 

(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

POLICY EP1 : INTERNATIONAL NATURE CONSERVATION SITES AND PROTECTED 
SPECIES

Development proposals which will have a likely significant effect on a designated or 
proposed Natura site, which includes all Ramsar sites, are only permissible where:

a) an appropriate assessment has demonstrated that it will not adversely affect the 
integrity of the site, or

b) there are no alternative solutions, and
c) there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social 

or economic nature

Where a development proposal is sited where there is the likely presence of an EPS, the 
planning authority must be satisfied that:

a) there is no satisfactory alternative, and
b) the development is required for preserving public health or public safety or for other 

imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance to the 
environment, and

c) the development is not detrimental to the maintenance of the population of a EPS at 
a favourable conservation status in its natural range.

Page 101



List of Policies

POLICY EP2 : NATIONAL NATURE CONSERVATION AND PROTECTED SPECIES

Development proposals which are likely to have a significant adverse effect, either directly or 
indirectly, on a Site of Special Scientific Interest or habitat directly supporting a nationally 
important species will not be permitted unless:

a) the development will not adversely affect the integrity of the site, and
b) the development offers substantial benefits of national importance, including those of 

a social or economic nature, that clearly outweigh the national nature conservation 
value of the site.

The developer will be required to detail mitigation, either on or off site, of any damage that 
may be caused by development permissible under the exception criteria.

POLICY EP3: LOCAL BIODIVERSITY

Development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect on Borders Notable Species 
and Habitats of Conservation Concern will be refused unless it can be demonstrated that the 
public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the value of the habitat for biodiversity 
conservation.

Any development that could impact on local biodiversity through impacts on habitats and 
species should:

a) aim to avoid fragmentation or isolation of habitats; and
b) be sited and designed to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity of the site, 

including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
c) compensate to ensure no net loss of biodiversity through use of biodiversity offsets 

as appropriate; and
d) aim to enhance the biodiversity value of the site, through use of an ecosystems 

approach, with the aim of creation or restoration of habitats and wildlife corridors and 
provision for their long-term management and maintenance.

POLICY EP5: SPECIAL LANDSCAPE AREAS

In assessing proposals for development that may affect Special Landscape Areas, the 
Council will seek to safeguard landscape quality and will have particular regard to the 
landscape impact of the proposed development, including the visual impact. Proposals that 
have a significant adverse impact will only be permitted where the landscape impact is 
clearly outweighed by social or economic benefits of national or local importance.

POLICY EP7: LISTED BUILDINGS

The Council will support development proposals that conserve, protect, and enhance the 
character, integrity and setting of Listed Buildings.

Internal or external alterations and extensions to Listed Buildings, or new developments 
within their curtilage, must meet the following criteria:

a) be of the highest quality,
b) respect the original structure in terms of setting, scale, design and materials, whilst 

not inhibiting contemporary and/or innovative design;
c) maintain, and should preferably enhance, the special architectural or historic quality 

of the building;

Page 102



List of Policies

d) demonstrate an understanding of the building’s significance.
All applications for Listed Building Consent or applications affecting the setting of 
Listed Buildings will be required to be supported by Design Statements.

New development that adversely affects the setting of a Listed Building will not be permitted.

The demolition of a Listed Building will not be permitted unless there are overriding 
environmental, economic, social or practical reasons. It must be satisfactorily demonstrated 
that every effort has been made to continue the present use or to find a suitable new use.

POLICY EP8:  ARCHAEOLOGY

(A) National Archaeological Sites
Development proposals which would destroy or adversely affect the appearance, fabric or 
setting of Scheduled Monuments or other nationally important sites will not be permitted 
unless:

the development offers substantial benefits, including those of a social or economic nature, 
that clearly outweigh the national value of the site, and
there are no reasonable alternative means of meeting the development need.

(B) Battlefields
The Council may support development proposals within a battlefield on the Inventory of 
Historic Battlefields Register, or a regionally significant site, that seek to protect, conserve, 
and/or enhance the landscape characteristics or important features of the battlefield.  
Proposals will be assessed according to their sensitivity to the battlefield.

(C) Regional or Local Archaeological Assets
Development proposals which will adversely affect an archaeological asset of regional or 
local significance will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the benefits of the 
proposal will clearly outweigh the heritage value of the asset.  
 
In all of the above cases, where development proposals impact on a Scheduled Monument, 
other nationally important sites, or any other archaeological or historical asset, developers 
may be required to carry out detailed investigations.

Any proposal that will adversely affect a historic environment asset or its appropriate setting 
must include a mitigation strategy acceptable to the Council.  

POLICY EP10: GARDENS AND DESIGNED LANDSCAPES

The Council will support development that safeguards or enhances the landscape features, 
character or setting of:

a) sites listed in the Inventory of Gardens and Designed Landscapes, or
b) sites included in historic gardens and designed landscapes records.

All development should be carefully sited, be of the highest standards of design using 
appropriate finishing materials and planting, and be informed by and respectful of the historic 
landscape structure. Proposals that will result in an unacceptable adverse impact will be 
refused.

All applications affecting a Garden or Designed Landscape will be required to be supported 
by a Design Statement.

Page 103



List of Policies

POLICY EP13: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS

The Council will refuse development that would cause the loss of or serious damage to the 
woodland resource unless the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss of 
landscape, ecological, recreational, historical, or shelter value.

Any development that may impact on the woodland resource should:

a) aim to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland resource, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and

b) where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, ensure appropriate 
replacement planting, where possible, within the area of the Scottish Borders; and

c) adhere to any planning agreement sought to enhance the woodland resource.

POLICY EP15:DEVELOPMENT AFFECTING THE WATER ENVIRONMENT

Development proposals that seek to bring improvement to the quality of the water 
environment will be supported. Where a proposal would result in a significant adverse effect 
on the water environment through impact on its natural or physical characteristics, or its use 
for recreation or existing river engineering works, it will be refused. Decision making will be 
guided by an assessment of:

a) pollution of surface or underground water, including water supply catchment 
areas, as a result of the nature of any surface or waste water discharge or 
leachate, including from the disturbance of contaminated land;

b) flood risk within the site or the wider river catchment;
c) proposals for river engineering works that may be required for fisheries 

management, flood defence or erosion control;
d) compliance with current best practice on Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) 
including avoidance of flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of 
watercourses.

POLICY IS2: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS

Where a site is otherwise acceptable in terms of planning policy, but cannot proceed due to 
deficiencies in infrastructure and services or to environmental impacts, any or all of which 
will be created or exacerbated as a result of the development, the Council will require 
developers to make a full or partial contribution towards the cost of addressing such 
deficiencies.  

Contributions may be required for one or more of the following:

a) treatment of surface or foul waste water in accordance with the Plan’s policies on 
preferred methods (including SUDS maintenance);

b) provision of schools, school extensions or associated facilities, all in accordance with 
current educational capacity estimates and schedule of contributions; 

c) off-site transport infrastructure including new roads or road improvements, Safer 
Routes to School, road safety measures, public car parking, cycle-ways, bridges and 
associated studies and other access routes, subsidy to public transport operators; all 
in accordance with the relevant standards and the provisions of any Travel Plan;

d) leisure, sport, recreation, play areas and community facilities, either on-site or off-
site;

e) landscape, open space, allotment provision, trees and woodlands, including costs of 
future management and maintenance;

Page 104



List of Policies

f) protection, enhancement and promotion of environmental assets either on-site or off-
site, having regard to the Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Biodiversity, including compensation for any 
losses and/or alternative provision;

g) provision of other facilities and equipment for the satisfactory completion of the 
development that may include: measures to minimise the risk of crime; provision for 
the storage, collection and recycling of waste, including communal facilities; provision 
of street furniture and digital connectivity with associated infrastructure.

Wherever possible, any requirement to provide developer contributions will be secured by 
planning condition.  Where a legal agreement is necessary, the preference for using an 
agreement under other legislation, for example the 1973 Local Government (Scotland) Act 
and the 1984 Roads (Scotland) Act will be considered.  A planning obligation will only be 
necessary where successors in title need to be bound by its terms. Where appropriate, the 
council will consider the economic viability of a proposed development, including possible 
payment options, such as staged or phased payments.

POLICY IS3: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS RELATED TO THE BORDERS RAILWAY

In accordance with the provisions of the Waverley Railway (Scotland) Act 2006, the Council 
will seek developer contributions towards the cost of providing the Borders railway from any 
developments that may be considered to benefit from, or be enhanced by, the re-instatement 
of the rail link.

POLICY IS7: PARKING PROVISION AND STANDARDS

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with 
approved standards. 

Relaxation of technical standards will be considered where appropriate due to the nature of 
the development and/or if positive amenity gains can be demonstrated that do not 
compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider the
desirability of seeking additional public parking provision, in the context of policies to  
promote the use of sustainable travel modes.

POLICY IS9: WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS AND SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
DRAINAGE

WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS
The Council’s preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with new 
development will be, in order of priority:

a) direct connection to the public sewerage system, including pumping if necessary, or 
failing that:

b) negotiating developer contributions with Scottish Water to upgrade the existing 
sewerage network and/or increasing capacity at the waste water treatment works, or 
failing that:

c) agreement with Scottish Water and SEPA where required to provide permanent or 
temporary alternatives to sewer connection including the possibility of stand alone 
treatment plants until sewer capacity becomes available, or, failing that:

d) for development in the countryside i.e. not within or immediately adjacent to publicly 
sewered areas, the use of private sewerage treatment may be acceptable, providing 

Page 105



List of Policies

it can be demonstrated that this can be delivered without any negative impacts to public 
health, the environment or the quality of watercourses or groundwater.

In settlements served by the public foul sewer, permission for an individual private sewage 
treatment system will normally be refused unless exceptional circumstances prevail and the 
conditions in criteria (d) above can be satisfied.

Development will be refused if:
a) it will result in a proliferation of individual septic tanks or other private water treatment 

infrastructure within settlements,
b) it will overload existing mains infrastructure or it is impractical for the developer to 

provide for new infrastructure.

SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE
Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and brownfield sites, 
must comply with current best practice on sustainable urban drainage systems to the 
satisfaction of the council, Scottish Environment Protection Agency (where required), 
Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested parties where required. Development will be 
refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a sustainable manner that avoids 
flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of watercourses. A drainage 
strategy should be submitted with planning applications to include treatment and flood 
attenuation measures and details for the long term maintenance of any necessary features.

OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside 
2008

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Placemaking & Design 2010
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Privacy and Sunlight  2006
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Trees and Development 2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Landscape and Development 2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Waste Management 2015
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Development Contributions 2011

Page 106



Page 107

Agenda Item 5a



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153

Agenda Item 5b



Page 154



Page 155

Agenda Item 5c



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161

Agenda Item 5d



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



List of Policies

Local Review Reference: 18/00037/RREF
Planning Application Reference: 18/01341/PPP
Development Proposal:  Erection of dwellinghouse and detached garage
Location: Land South East of Tarf House, West Linton
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Erlend Milne

Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016

POLICY PMD1: SUSTAINABILITY

In determining planning applications and preparing development briefs, the Council will have 
regard to the following sustainability principles which underpin all the Plan’s policies and 
which developers will be expected to incorporate into their developments:

a) the long term sustainable use and management of land
b) the preservation of air and water quality
c) the protection of natural resources, landscapes, habitats, and species
d) the protection of built and cultural resources
e) the efficient use of energy and resources, particularly non-renewable resources
f) the minimisation of waste, including waste water and encouragement to its 

sustainable management
g) the encouragement of walking, cycling, and public transport in preference to the 

private car
h) the minimisation of light pollution
i) the protection of public health and safety
j) the support to community services and facilities
k) the provision of new jobs and support to the local economy
l) the involvement of the local community in the design, management and improvement 

of their environment

POLICY PMD2: QUALITY STANDARDS

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 

demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient 
use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources 
such as District Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning 
applications must demonstrate that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction 
target has been met, with at least half of this target met through the use of low or 
zero carbon technology,

b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall 

provision of Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and 
maintenance,

d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,
e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 

presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,

f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or 
screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the 

Page 169

Agenda Item 5e



List of Policies

wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases 
agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an 
early stage of development and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for 
long term landscape/open space maintenance,

g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of the 

context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need 
not exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,

i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, 
where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,

j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement the 
highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, the 
existing building,

k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, 
neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,

l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 

development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 

accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing street 

patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in order to 
minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,

p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to the 

site access,
r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 

connections and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where 
possible to the existing path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support 
more sustainable travel patterns,

s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those used 
for waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open 

spaces and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be 
appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,

u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity or 
biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

POLICY HD2: HOUSING IN THE COUNTRYSIDE

The Council wishes to promote appropriate rural housing development:

a) in village locations in preference to the open countryside where permission will only 
be granted in special circumstances on appropriate sites, 

Page 170



List of Policies

b) associated with existing building groups where this does not adversely affect their 
character or that of the surrounding area, and
c) in dispersed communities in the Southern Borders housing market area.

These general principles in addition to the requirement for suitable roads access will be the
starting point for the consideration of applications for housing in the countryside, which will
be supplemented by Supplementary Planning Guidance / Supplementary Guidance on New
Housing in the Borders Countryside and on Placemaking and Design.

(A) BUILDING GROUPS

Housing of up to a total of 2 additional dwellings or a 30% increase of the building group,
whichever is the greater, associated with existing building groups may be approved provided
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group of at least 
three houses or building(s) currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential 
use. Where conversion is required to establish a cohesive group of at least three houses, no 
additional housing will be approved until such conversion has been implemented,
b) the cumulative impact of new development on the character of the building group, 
and on the landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into account when 
determining new applications. Additional development within a building group will be refused 
if, in conjunction with other developments in the area, it will cause unacceptable adverse 
impacts,
c) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings or a 30% increase in addition to the group during the Plan period. No 
further development above this threshold will be permitted.

In addition, where a proposal for new development is to be supported, the proposal should 
be appropriate in scale, siting, design, access, and materials, and should be sympathetic to 
the character of the group.

The calculations on building group size are based on the existing number of housing units
within the group as at the start of the Local Development Plan period. This will include those
units under construction or nearing completion at that point.

(B) DISPERSED BUILDINGS GROUPS

In the Southern Housing Market area there are few building groups comprising 3 houses
or more, and a more dispersed pattern is the norm. In this area a lower threshold may
be appropriate, particularly where this would result in tangible community, economic or
environmental benefits. In these cases the existence of a sense of place will be the primary
consideration.

Housing of up to 2 additional dwellings associated with dispersed building groups that meet
the above criteria may be approved provided that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site lies within a recognised dispersed community in 
the Southern Borders housing market area,
b) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings in addition to the group during the Plan period. No further 
development above this threshold will be permitted,
c) the design of housing will be subject to the same considerations as other types of  
housing in the countryside proposals.

Page 171



List of Policies

(C) CONVERSIONS OF BUILDINGS TO A HOUSE

Development that is a change of use of a building to a house may be acceptable provided 
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the building has architectural or historic merit, is capable 
of conversion and is physically suited for residential use,
b) the building stands substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height) and the 
existing structure requires no significant demolition. A structural survey will be required 
where in the opinion of the Council it appears that the building may not be capable of 
conversion, and
c) the conversion and any proposed extension or alteration is in keeping with the scale 
and architectural character of the existing building.

(D) RESTORATION OF HOUSES

The restoration of a house may also be acceptable provided that the walls of the former 
residential property stand substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height). In 
addition:

a) the siting and design reflects and respects the historical building pattern and the 
character of the landscape setting,
b) any proposed extension or alteration should be in keeping with the scale, form and 
architectural character of the existing or original building, and
c) significant alterations to the original character will only be considered where it can be 
demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive contribution to 
the landscape and/or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(E) REPLACEMENT DWELLINGS

The proposed replacement of an existing house may be acceptable provided that:

a) the siting and design of the new building reflects and respects the historical building 
pattern and the character of the landscape setting,
b) the proposal is in keeping with the existing/original building in terms of its scale, 
extent, form and architectural character,
c) significant alterations to the original character of the house will only be considered 
where it can be demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive 
contribution to the landscape and /or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(F) ECONOMIC REQUIREMENT

Housing with a location essential for business needs may be acceptable if the Council is
satisfied that:

a) the housing development is a direct operational requirement of an agricultural, 
horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and it 
is for a worker predominantly employed in the enterprise and the presence of that worker on-
site is essential to the efficient operation of the enterprise. Such development could include 
businesses that would cause disturbance or loss of amenity if located  within an existing 
settlement, or
b) it is for use of a person last employed in an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other 
enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and also employed on the unit that is 
the subject of the application, and the development will release another house for continued 

Page 172



List of Policies

use by an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to 
the countryside, and 
c) the housing development would help support a business that results in a clear social 
or environmental benefit to the area, including the retention or provision of employment or 
the provision of affordable or local needs housing, and
d) no appropriate site exists within a building group, and
e) there is no suitable existing house or other building capable of conversion for the 
required residential use.

In ALL instances in considering proposals relative to each of the policy sections above, there 
shall be compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance where it meets the 
terms of this policy and development must not negatively impact on landscape and existing 
communities. The cumulative effect of applications under this policy will be taken into 
account when determining impact.

POLICY HD3 : PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that 
would be lost; and

b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding properties 

particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting provisions. These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ 
development, 

(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

POLICY EP13: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS

The Council will refuse development that would cause the loss of or serious damage to the 
woodland resource unless the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss of 
landscape, ecological, recreational, historical, or shelter value.

Any development that may impact on the woodland resource should:

a) aim to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland resource, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
b) where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, ensure appropriate 
replacement planting, where possible, within the area of the Scottish Borders; and
c) adhere to any planning agreement sought to enhance the woodland resource.

POLICY IS2: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS

Where a site is otherwise acceptable in terms of planning policy, but cannot proceed due to 
deficiencies in infrastructure and services or to environmental impacts, any or all of which 
will be created or exacerbated as a result of the development, the Council will require 
developers to make a full or partial contribution towards the cost of addressing such 
deficiencies.  

Contributions may be required for one or more of the following:

Page 173



List of Policies

a) treatment of surface or foul waste water in accordance with the Plan’s policies on 
preferred methods (including SUDS maintenance);

b) provision of schools, school extensions or associated facilities, all in accordance with 
current educational capacity estimates and schedule of contributions; 

c) off-site transport infrastructure including new roads or road improvements, Safer 
Routes to School, road safety measures, public car parking, cycle-ways, bridges and 
associated studies and other access routes, subsidy to public transport operators; all 
in accordance with the relevant standards and the provisions of any Travel Plan;

d) leisure, sport, recreation, play areas and community facilities, either on-site or off-
site;

e) landscape, open space, allotment provision, trees and woodlands, including costs of 
future management and maintenance;

f) protection, enhancement and promotion of environmental assets either on-site or off-
site, having regard to the Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Biodiversity, including compensation for any 
losses and/or alternative provision;

g) provision of other facilities and equipment for the satisfactory completion of the 
development that may include: measures to minimise the risk of crime; provision for 
the storage, collection and recycling of waste, including communal facilities; provision 
of street furniture and digital connectivity with associated infrastructure.

Wherever possible, any requirement to provide developer contributions will be secured by 
planning condition.  Where a legal agreement is necessary, the preference for using an 
agreement under other legislation, for example the 1973 Local Government (Scotland) Act 
and the 1984 Roads (Scotland) Act will be considered.  A planning obligation will only be 
necessary where successors in title need to be bound by its terms. Where appropriate, the 
council will consider the economic viability of a proposed development, including possible 
payment options, such as staged or phased payments.

POLICY IS5: PROTECTION OF ACCESS ROUTES

Development that would have an adverse impact upon an access route available to the 
public will not be permitted unless a suitable diversion or appropriate alternative route, as 
agreed by the Council, can be provided by the developer.

POLICY IS7: PARKING PROVISION AND STANDARDS

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with 
approved standards. 

Relaxation of technical standards will be considered where appropriate due to the nature of 
the development and/or if positive amenity gains can be demonstrated that do not 
compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider the
desirability of seeking additional public parking provision, in the context of policies to  
promote the use of sustainable travel modes.

POLICY IS9: WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS AND SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
DRAINAGE

WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS
The Council’s preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with new 
development will be, in order of priority:

Page 174



List of Policies

a) direct connection to the public sewerage system, including pumping if necessary, or 
failing that:
b) negotiating developer contributions with Scottish Water to upgrade the existing 
sewerage network and/or increasing capacity at the waste water treatment works, or failing 
that:
c) agreement with Scottish Water and SEPA where required to provide permanent or 
temporary alternatives to sewer connection including the possibility of stand alone treatment 
plants until sewer capacity becomes available, or, failing that:
d) for development in the countryside i.e. not within or immediately adjacent to publicly 
sewered areas, the use of private sewerage treatment may be acceptable, providing it can 
be demonstrated that this can be delivered without any negative impacts to public health, the 
environment or the quality of watercourses or groundwater.

In settlements served by the public foul sewer, permission for an individual private sewage 
treatment system will normally be refused unless exceptional circumstances prevail and the 
conditions in criteria (d) above can be satisfied.

Development will be refused if:
a) it will result in a proliferation of individual septic tanks or other private water treatment 
infrastructure within settlements,
b) it will overload existing mains infrastructure or it is impractical for the developer to 
provide for new infrastructure.

SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE
Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and brownfield sites, 
must comply with current best practice on sustainable urban drainage systems to the 
satisfaction of the council, Scottish Environment Protection Agency (where required), 
Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested parties where required. Development will be 
refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a sustainable manner that avoids 
flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of watercourses. A drainage 
strategy should be submitted with planning applications to include treatment and flood 
attenuation measures and details for the long term maintenance of any necessary features.

OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside 
2008

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Placemaking & Design 2010
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Development Contributions 2011
 Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) 2014

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 177

Agenda Item 6a



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



P
age 191



P
age 192



P
age 193



P
age 194



P
age 195



P
age 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



P
age 233



P
age 234



P
age 235



P
age 236



P
age 237



P
age 238



P
age 239



P
age 240



P
age 241



P
age 242



Page 243

Agenda Item 6b



Page 244



Page 245

Agenda Item 6c



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



P
age 253

A
genda Item

 6d



P
age 254



P
age 255



P
age 256



P
age 257



P
age 258



P
age 259



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273

Agenda Item 6e



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



List of Policies

Local Review Reference: 18/00038/RREF
Planning Application Reference: 18/00956/FUL
Development Proposal:  Erection of dwellinghouse 
Location: Land North West of Chapel Cottage, Melrose
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Rose and Alexis Kennedy

Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016

POLICY PMD1: SUSTAINABILITY

In determining planning applications and preparing development briefs, the Council will have 
regard to the following sustainability principles which underpin all the Plan’s policies and 
which developers will be expected to incorporate into their developments:

a) the long term sustainable use and management of land
b) the preservation of air and water quality
c) the protection of natural resources, landscapes, habitats, and species
d) the protection of built and cultural resources
e) the efficient use of energy and resources, particularly non-renewable resources
f) the minimisation of waste, including waste water and encouragement to its 

sustainable management
g) the encouragement of walking, cycling, and public transport in preference to the 

private car
h) the minimisation of light pollution
i) the protection of public health and safety
j) the support to community services and facilities
k) the provision of new jobs and support to the local economy
l) the involvement of the local community in the design, management and improvement 

of their environment

POLICY PMD2: QUALITY STANDARDS

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 

demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient 
use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources 
such as District Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning 
applications must demonstrate that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction 
target has been met, with at least half of this target met through the use of low or 
zero carbon technology,

b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall 

provision of Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and 
maintenance,

d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,
e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 

presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,

f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or 
screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the 

Page 281

Agenda Item 6f



List of Policies

wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases 
agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an 
early stage of development and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for 
long term landscape/open space maintenance,

g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of the 

context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need 
not exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,

i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, 
where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,

j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement the 
highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, the 
existing building,

k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, 
neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,

l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 

development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 

accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing street 

patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in order to 
minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,

p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to the 

site access,
r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 

connections and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where 
possible to the existing path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support 
more sustainable travel patterns,

s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those used 
for waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open 

spaces and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be 
appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,

u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity or 
biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

POLICY HD2: HOUSING IN THE COUNTRYSIDE

The Council wishes to promote appropriate rural housing development:

a) in village locations in preference to the open countryside where permission will only 
be granted in special circumstances on appropriate sites, 

Page 282



List of Policies

b) associated with existing building groups where this does not adversely affect their 
character or that of the surrounding area, and
c) in dispersed communities in the Southern Borders housing market area.

These general principles in addition to the requirement for suitable roads access will be the
starting point for the consideration of applications for housing in the countryside, which will
be supplemented by Supplementary Planning Guidance / Supplementary Guidance on New
Housing in the Borders Countryside and on Placemaking and Design.

(A) BUILDING GROUPS

Housing of up to a total of 2 additional dwellings or a 30% increase of the building group,
whichever is the greater, associated with existing building groups may be approved provided
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group of at least 
three houses or building(s) currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential 
use. Where conversion is required to establish a cohesive group of at least three houses, no 
additional housing will be approved until such conversion has been implemented,
b) the cumulative impact of new development on the character of the building group, 
and on the landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into account when 
determining new applications. Additional development within a building group will be refused 
if, in conjunction with other developments in the area, it will cause unacceptable adverse 
impacts,
c) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings or a 30% increase in addition to the group during the Plan period. No 
further development above this threshold will be permitted.

In addition, where a proposal for new development is to be supported, the proposal should 
be appropriate in scale, siting, design, access, and materials, and should be sympathetic to 
the character of the group.

The calculations on building group size are based on the existing number of housing units
within the group as at the start of the Local Development Plan period. This will include those
units under construction or nearing completion at that point.

(B) DISPERSED BUILDINGS GROUPS

In the Southern Housing Market area there are few building groups comprising 3 houses
or more, and a more dispersed pattern is the norm. In this area a lower threshold may
be appropriate, particularly where this would result in tangible community, economic or
environmental benefits. In these cases the existence of a sense of place will be the primary
consideration.

Housing of up to 2 additional dwellings associated with dispersed building groups that meet
the above criteria may be approved provided that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site lies within a recognised dispersed community in 
the Southern Borders housing market area,
b) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings in addition to the group during the Plan period. No further 
development above this threshold will be permitted,
c) the design of housing will be subject to the same considerations as other types of  
housing in the countryside proposals.

Page 283



List of Policies

(C) CONVERSIONS OF BUILDINGS TO A HOUSE

Development that is a change of use of a building to a house may be acceptable provided 
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the building has architectural or historic merit, is capable 
of conversion and is physically suited for residential use,
b) the building stands substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height) and the 
existing structure requires no significant demolition. A structural survey will be required 
where in the opinion of the Council it appears that the building may not be capable of 
conversion, and
c) the conversion and any proposed extension or alteration is in keeping with the scale 
and architectural character of the existing building.

(D) RESTORATION OF HOUSES

The restoration of a house may also be acceptable provided that the walls of the former 
residential property stand substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height). In 
addition:

a) the siting and design reflects and respects the historical building pattern and the 
character of the landscape setting,
b) any proposed extension or alteration should be in keeping with the scale, form and 
architectural character of the existing or original building, and
c) significant alterations to the original character will only be considered where it can be 
demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive contribution to 
the landscape and/or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(E) REPLACEMENT DWELLINGS

The proposed replacement of an existing house may be acceptable provided that:

a) the siting and design of the new building reflects and respects the historical building 
pattern and the character of the landscape setting,
b) the proposal is in keeping with the existing/original building in terms of its scale, 
extent, form and architectural character,
c) significant alterations to the original character of the house will only be considered 
where it can be demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive 
contribution to the landscape and /or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(F) ECONOMIC REQUIREMENT

Housing with a location essential for business needs may be acceptable if the Council is
satisfied that:

a) the housing development is a direct operational requirement of an agricultural, 
horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and it 
is for a worker predominantly employed in the enterprise and the presence of that worker on-
site is essential to the efficient operation of the enterprise. Such development could include 
businesses that would cause disturbance or loss of amenity if located  within an existing 
settlement, or
b) it is for use of a person last employed in an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other 
enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and also employed on the unit that is 
the subject of the application, and the development will release another house for continued 

Page 284



List of Policies

use by an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to 
the countryside, and 
c) the housing development would help support a business that results in a clear social 
or environmental benefit to the area, including the retention or provision of employment or 
the provision of affordable or local needs housing, and
d) no appropriate site exists within a building group, and
e) there is no suitable existing house or other building capable of conversion for the 
required residential use.

In ALL instances in considering proposals relative to each of the policy sections above, there 
shall be compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance where it meets the 
terms of this policy and development must not negatively impact on landscape and existing 
communities. The cumulative effect of applications under this policy will be taken into 
account when determining impact.

POLICY HD3 : PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that 
would be lost; and

b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding properties 

particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting provisions. These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ 
development, 

(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

POLICY EP8:  ARCHAEOLOGY

(A) National Archaeological Sites
Development proposals which would destroy or adversely affect the appearance, fabric or 
setting of Scheduled Monuments or other nationally important sites will not be permitted 
unless:

the development offers substantial benefits, including those of a social or economic nature, 
that clearly outweigh the national value of the site, and
there are no reasonable alternative means of meeting the development need.

(B) Battlefields
The Council may support development proposals within a battlefield on the Inventory of 
Historic Battlefields Register, or a regionally significant site, that seek to protect, conserve, 
and/or enhance the landscape characteristics or important features of the battlefield.  
Proposals will be assessed according to their sensitivity to the battlefield.

(C) Regional or Local Archaeological Assets
Development proposals which will adversely affect an archaeological asset of regional or 
local significance will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the benefits of the 
proposal will clearly outweigh the heritage value of the asset.  
 

Page 285



List of Policies

In all of the above cases, where development proposals impact on a Scheduled Monument, 
other nationally important sites, or any other archaeological or historical asset, developers 
may be required to carry out detailed investigations.

Any proposal that will adversely affect a historic environment asset or its appropriate setting 
must include a mitigation strategy acceptable to the Council.  

POLICY EP10: GARDENS AND DESIGNED LANDSCAPES

The Council will support development that safeguards or enhances the landscape features, 
character or setting of:

a) sites listed in the Inventory of Gardens and Designed Landscapes, or
b) sites included in historic gardens and designed landscapes records.

All development should be carefully sited, be of the highest standards of design using 
appropriate finishing materials and planting, and be informed by and respectful of the historic 
landscape structure. Proposals that will result in an unacceptable adverse impact will be 
refused.

All applications affecting a Garden or Designed Landscape will be required to be supported 
by a Design Statement.

POLICY EP13: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS

The Council will refuse development that would cause the loss of or serious damage to the 
woodland resource unless the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss of 
landscape, ecological, recreational, historical, or shelter value.

Any development that may impact on the woodland resource should:

a) aim to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland resource, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
b) where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, ensure appropriate 
replacement planting, where possible, within the area of the Scottish Borders; and
c) adhere to any planning agreement sought to enhance the woodland resource.

POLICY IS2: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS

Where a site is otherwise acceptable in terms of planning policy, but cannot proceed due to 
deficiencies in infrastructure and services or to environmental impacts, any or all of which 
will be created or exacerbated as a result of the development, the Council will require 
developers to make a full or partial contribution towards the cost of addressing such 
deficiencies.  

Contributions may be required for one or more of the following:

a) treatment of surface or foul waste water in accordance with the Plan’s policies on 
preferred methods (including SUDS maintenance);

b) provision of schools, school extensions or associated facilities, all in accordance with 
current educational capacity estimates and schedule of contributions; 

c) off-site transport infrastructure including new roads or road improvements, Safer 
Routes to School, road safety measures, public car parking, cycle-ways, bridges and 
associated studies and other access routes, subsidy to public transport operators; all 
in accordance with the relevant standards and the provisions of any Travel Plan;

Page 286



List of Policies

d) leisure, sport, recreation, play areas and community facilities, either on-site or off-
site;

e) landscape, open space, allotment provision, trees and woodlands, including costs of 
future management and maintenance;

f) protection, enhancement and promotion of environmental assets either on-site or off-
site, having regard to the Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Biodiversity, including compensation for any 
losses and/or alternative provision;

g) provision of other facilities and equipment for the satisfactory completion of the 
development that may include: measures to minimise the risk of crime; provision for 
the storage, collection and recycling of waste, including communal facilities; provision 
of street furniture and digital connectivity with associated infrastructure.

Wherever possible, any requirement to provide developer contributions will be secured by 
planning condition.  Where a legal agreement is necessary, the preference for using an 
agreement under other legislation, for example the 1973 Local Government (Scotland) Act 
and the 1984 Roads (Scotland) Act will be considered.  A planning obligation will only be 
necessary where successors in title need to be bound by its terms. Where appropriate, the 
council will consider the economic viability of a proposed development, including possible 
payment options, such as staged or phased payments.

POLICY IS3: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS RELATED TO THE BORDERS RAILWAY

In accordance with the provisions of the Waverley Railway (Scotland) Act 2006, the Council 
will seek developer contributions towards the cost of providing the Borders railway from any 
developments that may be considered to benefit from, or be enhanced by, the re-instatement 
of the rail link.

POLICY IS7: PARKING PROVISION AND STANDARDS

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with 
approved standards. 

Relaxation of technical standards will be considered where appropriate due to the nature of 
the development and/or if positive amenity gains can be demonstrated that do not 
compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider the
desirability of seeking additional public parking provision, in the context of policies to  
promote the use of sustainable travel modes.

POLICY IS9: WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS AND SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
DRAINAGE

WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS
The Council’s preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with new 
development will be, in order of priority:

a) direct connection to the public sewerage system, including pumping if necessary, or 
failing that:
b) negotiating developer contributions with Scottish Water to upgrade the existing 
sewerage network and/or increasing capacity at the waste water treatment works, or failing 
that:

Page 287



List of Policies

c) agreement with Scottish Water and SEPA where required to provide permanent or 
temporary alternatives to sewer connection including the possibility of stand alone treatment 
plants until sewer capacity becomes available, or, failing that:
d) for development in the countryside i.e. not within or immediately adjacent to publicly 
sewered areas, the use of private sewerage treatment may be acceptable, providing it can 
be demonstrated that this can be delivered without any negative impacts to public health, the 
environment or the quality of watercourses or groundwater.

In settlements served by the public foul sewer, permission for an individual private sewage 
treatment system will normally be refused unless exceptional circumstances prevail and the 
conditions in criteria (d) above can be satisfied.

Development will be refused if:
a) it will result in a proliferation of individual septic tanks or other private water treatment 
infrastructure within settlements,
b) it will overload existing mains infrastructure or it is impractical for the developer to 
provide for new infrastructure.

SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE
Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and brownfield sites, 
must comply with current best practice on sustainable urban drainage systems to the 
satisfaction of the council, Scottish Environment Protection Agency (where required), 
Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested parties where required. Development will be 
refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a sustainable manner that avoids 
flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of watercourses. A drainage 
strategy should be submitted with planning applications to include treatment and flood 
attenuation measures and details for the long term maintenance of any necessary features.

OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside 
2008

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Placemaking & Design 2010
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Privacy and Sunlight  2006
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Trees and Development 2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Landscape and Development 2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Waste Management 2015
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Development Contributions 2011

Page 288



Page 289

Agenda Item 7a



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



P
age 307



P
age 308



P
age 309



P
age 310



P
age 311



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



P
age 319



P
age 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 329

Agenda Item 7b



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335

Agenda Item 7c



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339

Agenda Item 7d



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



List of Policies

Local Review Reference: 18/00039/RREF
Planning Application Reference: 18/01215/FUL
Development Proposal:  Extension to dwellinghouse
Location: 10 Townhead Way, Newstead
Applicant: Mr Kevin Patterson

Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016

POLICY PMD2: QUALITY STANDARDS

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 

demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient 
use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources 
such as District Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning 
applications must demonstrate that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction 
target has been met, with at least half of this target met through the use of low or 
zero carbon technology,

b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall 

provision of Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and 
maintenance,

d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,
e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 

presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,

f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or 
screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the 
wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases 
agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an 
early stage of development and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for 
long term landscape/open space maintenance,

g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of the 

context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need 
not exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,

i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, 
where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,

j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement the 
highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, the 
existing building,

k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, 
neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,

l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 

development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 

accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Page 343

Agenda Item 7e



List of Policies

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing street 

patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in order to 
minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,

p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to the 

site access,
r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 

connections and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where 
possible to the existing path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support 
more sustainable travel patterns,

s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those used 
for waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open 

spaces and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be 
appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,

u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity or 
biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

POLICY HD3 : PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that 
would be lost; and

b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding properties 

particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting provisions. These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ 
development, 

(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

POLICY EP4 : NATIONAL SCENIC AREAS

Development that may affect National Scenic Areas will only be permitted where:

a) the objectives of designation and the overall landscape value of the site and its 
surrounds will not be compromised, or
b) any significant adverse effects on the qualities for which the site or its surrounds 
have been designated are clearly outweighed by social or economic benefits of national 
importance.

Page 344



List of Policies

POLICY EP9 : CONSERVATION AREAS

The Council will support development proposals within or adjacent to a Conservation Area 
which are located and designed to preserve or enhance the special architectural or historic 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. This should accord with the scale, 
proportions, alignment, density, materials, and boundary treatment of nearby buildings, open 
spaces, vistas, gardens and landscapes.

The Council may require applications for full, as opposed to Planning Permission in Principle 
Consent.

Conservation Area Consent, which is required for the demolition of an unlisted building 
within a Conservation Area, will only be considered in the context of appropriate proposals 
for redevelopment and will only be permitted where:

the building is incapable of reasonably beneficial use by virtue of its location, 
physical form or state of disrepair, and
the structural condition of the building is such that it can not be adapted to 
accommodate alterations or extensions without material loss to its character, and
the proposal will preserve or enhance the Conservation Area, either individually 
or as part of the townscape.

In cases a) to c) above, demolition will not be permitted to proceed until acceptable 
alternative treatment of the site has been approved and a contract for the replacement 
building or for an alternative means of treating the cleared site has been agreed.

Design Statements will be required for all applications for alterations, extensions, or for 
demolition and replacement which should explain and illustrate the design principles and 
design concepts of the proposals.

OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Placemaking and Design 2010
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Privacy and Sunlight  2006
 BRE209 “Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight” 2011

Note:-
The BRE document referenced in the Notice of Review 18/00039/RREF can be accessed 
using the link below:

https://planning.islington.gov.uk/NorthgatePublicDocs/00295332.pdf 

Page 345

https://planning.islington.gov.uk/NorthgatePublicDocs/00295332.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4a Notice of Review
	Item 4(a) - Notice of Review (2)
	Item 4(a) - Notice of Review (3)
	Item 4(a) - Notice of Review (4)
	Item 4(a) - Notice of Review (5)

	4b Decision Notice
	4c Papers referred to in Officer's Report
	Item 4(c) - Papers referred to in report (2)
	Item 4(c) - Papers referred to in report (3)
	Item 4(c) - Papers referred to in report (4)

	4d Support comment
	4e Consultations
	4f List of Policies
	5a Notice of Review
	Item 5(a) - Notice of Review (2)
	Item 5(a) - Notice of Review (3)

	5b Decision Notice
	5c Officer's Report
	5d Consultations
	5e List of Policies
	6a Notice of Review
	Item 6(a) - Notice of Review (2)
	Item 6(a) - Notice of Review (3)
	Item 6(a) - Notice of Review (4)

	6b Decision Notice
	6c Officer's report
	6d Papers referred to in report
	Item 6(d) - Papers referred to in report (2)

	6e Consultations
	6f List of Policies
	7a Notice of Review
	Item 7(a) - Notice of Review (2)
	Item 7(a) - Notice of Review (3)
	Item 7(a) - Notice of Review (4)
	Item 7(a) - Notice of Review (5)

	7b Application referred to in Notice of Review
	7c Officer's report
	7d Consultations
	7e List of policies

